RECEIVED

08-02-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP813-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DANIEL M. WILSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Postconviction Relief, Both Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Jeffrey A. Wagner Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

LEON W. TODD Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1050407

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202 (414) 227-4805 toddl@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. In a prosecution for repeated sexual assault of a child, is the State required to prove the second essential element of the offense—that at least three sexual assaults took place within a specified period of time?

The circuit court held that the State was not required to prove this element, ruling that "although the timeframe was an element of the offense, it was not a *material* element." (53:3; App. 103) (emphasis in original).

2. Are certified medical records showing that the alleged child victim has a sexually transmitted disease—which were generated after child protective services removed the victim from her home due to suspected physical abuse—"testimonial" under the Confrontation Clause framework established in *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004)?

The circuit court held that the medical records were not testimonial. (53:4-5; App. 104-05).

3. Was Daniel Wilson denied effective assistance of counsel because his attorney failed to object to irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial expert testimony asserting that: (1) the vast majority of child sexual assaults are committed by family members or acquaintances; and (2) victims of child sexual abuse are often threatened by their abusers?

The circuit court concluded that this testimony was appropriate in the context in which it was discussed and denied Mr. Wilson's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel without an evidentiary hearing. (53:5; App. 105).

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The briefs will fully address the issues presented, so Mr. Wilson does not request oral argument. *See* Wis. Stat. § 809.22(2)(b). Publication is necessary, however, to clarify whether the timeframe element of repeated sexual assault of a child is an essential element of the offense. *See* Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)1. It is a fundamental tenant of due process that the State may not deprive a person of liberty unless it proves *every element* of the charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 365 (1970); *State v. Harvey*, 2002 WI 93, ¶ 19, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189. Whether there is some exception to this constitutional guarantee for the offense of repeated sexual assault of a child—as the circuit court concluded—is an issue of substantial and continuing public interest that strongly warrants publication. *See* Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)5.

Also, publication may be appropriate to clarify the scope of the Confrontation Clause in the context of medical records generated in response to allegations of child abuse. *See* Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)1.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Allegations of the criminal complaint.

On June 3, 2014, the State filed a criminal complaint charging Daniel Wilson with one count of repeated sexual assault of a child (three or more acts of sexual intercourse in violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(am), (b), or (c)), contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.025(1)(b). The complaint alleged that, between January 1, 2013 and May 5, 2014, Mr. Wilson engaged in numerous acts of sexual intercourse with F.T.

(DOB 12/27/05), who at the time was between the ages of seven and eight. (1:1-2).

B. Evidence presented at trial.

The case was tried to a jury over a three-day period beginning on January 20, 2015. The Honorable Jeffrey A. Wagner presided over the trial. At the outset of the trial, the parties stipulated to the introduction of medical test results showing that Mr. Wilson had type 1 herpes. (66:31; *see also* 75; 77:6). The following testimony was then presented at trial.

F.T.'s mother, Jeanette Yegger, testified that she has five children who were the following ages at the time of trial: F.T., age nine; Mariah, age seven; Anthony, age six; Ebony, age three; and Tatevanna, age one. (69:3-4). She also explained that Mr. Wilson is the biological father only of Anthony. (69:4-5). Ms. Yegger further testified she began dating Mr. Wilson in June 2013.² (69:5). At the time, she and her children were living at her mother's house, which was located at 2948 North Buffum Street in the City of Milwaukee. (69:5-6, 79-80). Ms. Yegger stated that she lived there from June 2013 until November 2, 2013. (69:6-7). During this time, she stated that Mr. Wilson did not live with her but did spend the night. (69:6-7).

Ms. Yegger explained that, on November 2, 2013, she

¹ The stipulation states that Mr. Wilson tested positive for herpes types 1 and 2. (77:6). The actual test results, however, show that Mr. Wilson only tested positive for herpes type 1, not type 2. (75:2). This error is immaterial for purposes of this appeal.

² Mr. Wilson clarified that he had known Ms. Yegger "off and on" for eighteen years. (69:78). They had a six-year-old child, Anthony, from a prior relationship. However, the two began dating again in the summer of 2013. (69:78-79).

and Mr. Wilson (along with her children) moved in together at a new house located at 2477 North 6th Street in the City of Milwaukee. (69:5-6, 11-12). In response to a question by the prosecutor, Ms. Yegger initially agreed that her children were "detained" by the Bureau of Milwaukee Child Welfare (BMCW) on May 5, 2014. (69:7). However, she never stated that her children were actually *removed* from her home, either permanently or temporarily, on May 5, 2014. In fact, she specifically stated later that BMCW did not remove her children from her home on May 5, 2014. (69:7-9, 30). Instead, BMCW established a protective plan at this time in response to suspected physical abuse of F.T. (69:8-10, 40-44, 104-05). The protective plan required Ms. Yegger's adult sister to live with her and supervise Ms. Yegger with her children. (*Id.* at 8, 42-44).

Shortly after Ms. Yegger's sister moved in, however, she became unable to continue serving as a "protective adult." (69:8-9, 13, 44, 113-114). As a result, on May 13, 2014, Ms. Yegger and her children, along with Mr. Wilson, moved to the home of Mr. Wilson's mother, Armer Lloyd, at 5147 North 28th Street in the City of Milwaukee. (69:8-9, 20, 43-44, 88-89). Ms. Lloyd then served as the protective adult until all the children were permanently removed³ from her home on May 20, 2014 due to the suspected physical abuse of F.T. (69:8-10, 40-44, 104-05). The BMCW social worker who made the decision to remove the children, Kayla Williamson, as well as Mr. Wilson, confirmed this time line. Both testified that the children were not removed from the

³ After her removal, a physical medical examination on May 20, 2014 revealed lesions on F.T.'s genitals. She remained in foster care from then on. (69:8-10, 38-44; 76:10-17).

home until May 20, 2014.⁴ (69:39-44, 88-89, 104-05).

F.T. also testified at the trial. She stated that Mr. Wilson⁵ had previously touched her vagina with his finger "[m]ore than one time." (68:74-75). F.T. stated that, on one occasion, Mr. Wilson touched her under her clothing "and then he started to dig in there. And then it was hurting and burning everywhere." (68:77.) According to F.T., this incident occurred at "Anthony's granny's house." (68:78). She stated, when it happened, she was lying down going to sleep in "Anthony's granny's room," along with her brother and sisters. (68:76). At a different point, however, she said it took place in Mr. Wilson's room. (68:75).And at yet another point, she said it took place in her own room. (68:76). F.T. stated she was eight years old when this happened. (68:78).

Initially, F.T. stated that Mr. Wilson had never touched any other part of her body and that there was no touching involving "his private parts" or "with mouths." (68:78). She also said she had never seen or touched Mr. Wilson's "private part." (68:80). However, the prosecutor then reminded F.T. that she had previously alleged that Mr. Wilson "peed on [her]" during a forensic interview. F.T. then quickly changed her testimony and asserted that Mr. Wilson had, in fact, "peed on [her] head when [she was] laying [sic] down." (68:81). She said this incident also happened at "Anthony's granny's house" and that she was in Mr. Wilson's room sleeping with

⁴ F.T.'s certified medical records also state that she was not removed from the home until May 19, 2014. (76:9-11). For purposes of this appeal, the difference between May 19 and May 20, 2014 is immaterial.

⁵ Throughout her testimony, F.T. referred to Mr. Wilson as "Trey." (68:68-108). The evidence was undisputed that the person F.T. referred to as "Trey" was Mr. Wilson. (*See*, *e.g.*, 68:57).

her brother and sisters. (68:81-83). According to F.T., Mr. Wilson woke her up and "[p]ee[d] on [her and] put his finger in [her] parts." (68:83). F.T. stated that the "pee" looked like "[w]hite stuff." (68:84).

F.T. also initially denied that Mr. Wilson had ever touched her butt with his "private part." However, after the prosecutor reminded F.T. again about her forensic interview, F.T. changed her testimony once more and agreed that Mr. Wilson had "touched [her] behind with his private part." (68:85-86). She said she was watching a movie with her sisters in their room at "[her] momma house" when this happened. (68:86-87). F.T. soon changed her testimony again, however, and said Mr. Wilson came into her room during this incident and told her to turn around, but she told him no and went back to playing with her sisters. (68:87).

When asked again whether she had ever touched Mr. Wilson's "private part," F.T. said no. But once again, the prosecutor reminded F.T. about her allegations during the forensic interview. F.T. then changed her testimony again and agreed that Mr. Wilson had made her touch "his private parts." She said this also happened at "Anthony granny's house" when she was eight years old. (68:87-88). In further describing the incident, F.T. said she was in the kids' room

⁶ During her testimony, F.T. also described other incidents of alleged sexual contact between her and Mr. Wilson; however, these other incidents only constituted sexual contact, not sexual intercourse. (69:84-85, 92-93, Ex. 3). These incidents are thus not described in detail in this brief, as the only type of child sexual assault alleged by the State was first-degree sexual assault of a child, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b) (sexual intercourse with a person under twelve). (1:1-2; 70:3-6).

and everyone else was asleep.⁷ (68:88-89). According to F.T., Mr. Wilson came into the room and put his finger in her vagina and tried to "put his private part in [her] part." (68:90-91).

F.T. further testified that Mr. Wilson had "pee[d] on [her]" only one time. (68:91). She also said that Mr. Wilson only touched her one time at her mother's house, but more than one time "Anthony's granny's house." (68:92). In addition, she said Mr. Wilson put his penis inside her "behind" one time at "Anthony's granny's house." (68:94-95).

The State also played a DVD of F.T.'s prior forensic interview. (68:56-57; 78:1). During the interview, F.T. stated that Mr. Wilson "tried to let me open my mouth and put his private part in my mouth." (78:1 at 02:48:00 to 02:49:00). F.T. indicated this happened more than more time and stated that it took place at "Anthony's granny's house." (78:1 at 02:50:00 to 02:50:45). She further stated that Mr. Wilson had her lay on her stomach and was "putting his private part on my behind." (78:1 at 02:50:00 to 02:50:45). F.T. also described another incident "at the new house," where Mr. Wilson was "licking on [her], and putting his private part in [her] butt." (78:1 at 02:55:30 to 02:56:45) Also during the interview, F.T. described another incident at "Anthony's granny house," where Mr. Wilson put his finger "deep in [her] private part." (78:1 at 02:56:45 to 02:58:00). She also described a time when Mr. Wilson made her open her legs and put his finger in her vagina. (78:1 at 03:03:00 to 03:3:03:35).

⁷ In her description of this incident, F.T. stated at first that she was awake at the outset of the incident. However, a brief moment later, she said she was asleep. (Tr. 1/21/15 a.m. at 88-89).

During cross-examination, F.T. confirmed that "Anthony's granny" is Mr. Wilson's mother, Armer Lloyd. (68:101-102).

Dr. Judy Guinn, a pediatrician at Children's Hospital of Wisconsin, also testified for the State. During her testimony, the State introduced certified medical records from Children's Hospital regarding the examinations performed on F.T. following her removal from her home on May 20, 2014. (68:12; 76). According to those records, a sexual assault nurse examiner (SANE), Deborah Bretl, discovered lesions on F.T.'s genital region during the examination. (16; 76:10-17; *see also* 16; 67:5). Ms. Bretl then ordered testing for sexually transmitted diseases (STDs), which revealed that F.T. had type 1 herpes. (76:14-16). Neither Ms. Bretl, nor the medical professional who performed the STD tests, testified at trial or was otherwise made available for examination by the defense.

During her testimony, Dr. Guinn asserted that the vast majority of child sexual assaults are committed by relatives or acquaintances of the victim. (67:101-02). She also claimed that victims of child abuse are often threatened by their abusers. (67:103). Amanda Didier, a forensic interviewer for Children's Hospital, also testified that interfamilial sexual abuse (which, according to her, includes abuse perpetrated by a boyfriend) is the most common type of child sexual abuse. (67:90-91).

⁸ Defense counsel objected to these medical records on hearsay grounds but was overruled. She did not object to them on Confrontation Clause grounds. (69:47).

Defense counsel objected to Ms. Didier's testimony on foundational and leading grounds but was overruled. She did not object on the grounds of relevance or unfair prejudice. (67:90-91).

Mr. Wilson exercised his right to testify in this case and categorically denied ever touching F.T. in an inappropriate or sexual manner. (69:98-102). After the close of evidence, the circuit court granted the State's request to submit a lesser-included offense instruction for a single count of first-degree sexual assault of a child, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b). (66:30; 69:117-18; 70:3-7). The court also instructed the jury that the specified period of time within which the sexual assaults were alleged to have occurred was January 1, 2013 through May 5, 2014. (70:3-4).

Thereafter, the jury returned a verdict finding Mr. Wilson guilty of repeated sexual assault of a child. (71:2-5). On March 12, 2015, the circuit court sentenced Mr. Wilson to a fifty-year term of imprisonment, consisting of thirty-seven years of initial confinement and thirteen years of extended supervision. (72:37).

C. Postconviction proceedings before the circuit court.

Following entry of the judgment of conviction, Mr. Wilson filed a timely notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. (29). He later filed a postconviction motion seeking an order vacating his conviction and sentence and directing the entry of a judgment of acquittal on the grounds that there was insufficient evidence to convict him of repeated sexual assault of a child. In this regard, Mr. Wilson pointed out that the State had failed to present any evidence to prove an essential element of its case—that the alleged sexual assaults occurred during the specified time period of January 1, 2013 to May 5, 2014. (40:8-12).

In the alternative, Mr. Wilson requested a new trial on the grounds that his trial attorney was ineffective for: (1) failing to object on Confrontation Clause grounds to the admission of the medical test results (and related testimony) showing that F.T. had type 1 herpes; (2) failing to object on the grounds of relevance and unfair prejudice to the expert testimony asserting that the vast majority of child sexual assaults are committed by family members or acquaintances; and (3) failing to object on the grounds of relevance and unfair prejudice to the expert testimony asserting that victims of child sexual abuse are often threatened by their abusers. (40:12-17). Mr. Wilson asserted that these errors, both individually and collectively, undermined confidence in the outcome of the case and entitled him to a new trial. (40:17-19). He also requested an evidentiary hearing on his ineffective assistance claims. (40:1-2, 20).

After further briefing by the parties, the circuit court issued a written decision and order denying Mr. Wilson's postconviction motion. (53; App. 101-05). Regarding his sufficiency of the evidence claim, the court concluded "that although the timeframe was an element of the offense, it was not a *material* element." (53:3; App. 103) (emphasis added). In this respect, the circuit court cited *State v. Fawcett*, 145 Wis. 2d 244, 426 N.W.2d 91 (Ct. App. 1998), and *State v. Kempainen*, 2015 WI 32, 361 Wis. 2d 450, 466, 862 N.W.2d 587, for proposition that "time is not of the essence in sexual assault cases." (53:3; App. 103).

Fawcett and Kempainen both dealt with the offense of sexual assault of a child under Wis. Stat. § 948.02, which does not have a time element, unlike Wis. Stat. § 948.025. Nonetheless, based on these cases, the circuit court held that the State was not required to prove that at least three of the alleged sexual assaults occurred during the specified time

¹⁰ Mr. Wilson's postconviction motion also requested an order granting him an additional twenty-one days of sentence credit, which the circuit court granted. (40:19-20; 53:5; App. 105).

period of January 1, 2013 to May 5, 2014. The court provided the following reasoning:

Based on the above case law, the court cannot find that the May 5, 2014 date in the complaint had to be rigidly adhered to, and there is nothing to suggest in the defendant's motion that the timeframe was somehow a material element of the offense in this case or that the additional fifteen days from May 5-20, 2014 jeopardized him with respect to notice of the pertinent timeframe. He knew he was part of the family up until May 20, 2014. Under the circumstances, even if some of the sexual assaults occurred during the fifteen day period beyond that set forth in the complaint, the court declines to vacate the convictions. As it is, the verdict of the jury was fully supported by more than sufficient evidence. The child testified credibly about multiple instances of sexual assault under sec. 948.02(1), Stats., The court rejects the defendant's contention that the State failed to met [sic] its burden of proof or that sufficient evidence did not exist.

(53:3-4; App. 103-04).

The circuit court also rejected Mr. Wilson's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. With respect to his Confrontation Clause challenge, the court held that the medical records were not testimonial according to the Wisconsin Supreme Court's recent decision in *State v. Mattox*, 2017 WI 9, 373 Wis. 2d 122, 890 N.W.2d 256, petition for certiorari filed (May 16, 2017) (No. 16-9167). (53:5; 48:8-12; App. 105, 113-17). Regarding Mr. Wilson's challenges to portions of Dr. Guinn's and Ms. Didler's expert testimony concerning the nature of child sexual assault, the circuit court stated that "[t]he testimony was appropriate in this case in the context of what was discussed or addressed by the expert, and counsel was not ineffective." (53:5; App.

105).

This appeal follows. (55).

ARGUMENT

- I. There Was Insufficient Evidence to Convict Mr. Wilson of Repeated Sexual Assault of a Child Because the State Failed to Present Any Evidence Establishing that the Alleged Sexual Assaults Occurred During the Specified Time Period.
 - A. General legal principles and standard of review.

A conviction that is based on insufficient evidence cannot constitutionally stand. *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 309 (1979). The due process clauses of the United States and Wisconsin constitutions provide individuals with protection from conviction in a criminal case except "upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged." *Winship*, 397 U.S. at 365; *accord State v. Smith*, 117 Wis. 2d 399, 415, 344 N.W.2d 711 (Ct. App. 1983). Accordingly, the State "may not 'deprive the accused of liberty unless the prosecution proves beyond a reasonable doubt every element of the charged offense." *Harvey*, 254 Wis. 2d 442, ¶ 19 (quoting *Carella v. California*, 491 U.S. 263, 265 (1989)).

In Wisconsin, a criminal defendant may challenge the sufficiency of the evidence on appeal regardless of whether he specifically raised the issue at trial. *State v. Hayes*, 2004 WI 80, ¶ 4, 273 Wis. 2d 1, 681 N.W.2d 203. An appellate court does not substitute its judgment for the fact-finder, but instead asks whether the evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to the State, is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found

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