#### **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN 10-05-2017

## COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP813-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DANIEL M. WILSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

DANIEL J. O'BRIEN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018324

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

The information may be amended at trial "to conform to the proof where such amendment is not prejudicial to the defendant." Wis. Stat. § 971.29(2) Even after the verdict the information "shall be deemed amended to conform to the proof if no objection to the relevance of the evidence was timely raised upon the trial." Id. See State v. Nicholson, 160 Wis. 2d 803, 806, 467 N.W.2d 139 (Ct. App. 1991) ("The trial court's decision to amend the information to conform with the proof will be upheld on appeal if it was not an abuse of discretion.... The effect of the amendment was to add an additional day and location to the felon in possession of a firearm charge. The trial court . . . simply revised the information to conform with the proof that came out during the trial which is its prerogative."). See also State v. Echols, 2011 WI App 143, ¶¶ 25–27, 337 Wis. 2d 558, 806 N.W.2d 269, 2011 WL 4445635 (unpublished authored opinion cited for persuasive value) (discussing when the information may be amended after trial to conform to the proof at trial).

Wilson never timely objected "to the relevance of the evidence," Wis. Stat. § 971.29(2), regarding what F.T. testified happened at "Anthony's granny's house." So, the information

"shall be deemed amended to conform to" F.T.'s testimony that Wilson insists expanded the time frame by fifteen days. By not making the proper objection, Wilson forfeited any argument on appeal that F.T.'s testimony about what happened at "Anthony's granny's house" after May 5, 2014, was irrelevant, or that the information should have been dismissed because the charge did not conform to the otherwise sufficient proof at trial that F.T. was repeatedly assaulted by him between January 1, 2013, and May 20, 2014. Those challenges had to be raised below and were not. Only a sufficiency of the evidence challenge or an issue "previously raised" need not be preserved for appeal. Wis. Stat. § 974.02(2). Wilson's attorney likely believed the objection would have been futile because, again, the prosecutor would have simply moved to amend the information at the close of trial to conform to the proof and the trial court would have in the sound exercise of its discretion granted the motion. *Nicholson*, 160 Wis. 2d at 806.

Wilson would not have been prejudiced by a post-verdict amendment to add fifteen days to the charge because he was able to present the defense that he did not assault F.T. anytime, anywhere, including at his mother's house in May 2014. The prosecutor indeed amended the information at the close of evidence to conform to F.T.'s testimony that one or more of the assaults occurred at the 6th Street residence. Wilson did not object. (R. 69:51–52.) So, Wilson had no objection to adding an entirely different residence where the family lived for six months, but he now objects to adding a mere fifteen days to the time frame. Just as he suffered no prejudice from amending the information at the close of evidence to add the 6th Street residence, he would have suffered no prejudice from a post-verdict amendment to expand the charged time frame fifteen days, from May 5 to Mav 20. 2014. Therefore, in response Wilson's postconviction motion, the trial court could have ordered the

information amended to conform to the trial proof. This Court could and should do the same. Wis. Stat. § 971.29(2).

E. If this Court reverses, it should modify the judgment to find Wilson guilty of the included offense that was submitted to the jury and that the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt.

If this Court agrees with Wilson that his conviction under Wis. Stat. § 948.025 must be reversed because the charged time frame was off by fifteen days, it should modify the judgment to find Wilson guilty of the included offense of first-degree sexual assault in light of F.T.'s compelling and corroborated testimony that she was sexually assaulted by him more than three times between June 1, 2013, and May 20, 2014.

In addition to the charged offense, the trial court instructed the jury on the included offense of first-degree sexual assault, sexual intercourse with a child under age 12. Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b). (R. 70:5.) This is permitted. Wis. Stat. § 948.025(3). This is an "included" offense of the charged Wis. Stat. § 948.025(1)(b) because it "does not require proof of any fact in addition to those which must be proved for the crime charged." Wis. Stat. § 939.66(1). It is not, however, a "lesser" included offense under § 939.66, i.e., a "less serious" type of sexual assault, because both are Class B felonies. It is, instead, an "equally serious" type of sexual assault as the crime charged. Wis. Stat. § 939.66(2p).

The jury necessarily found that Wilson committed multiple violations of Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b) when it found him guilty of violating Wis. Stat. § 948.025(1)(b). This court has the authority to modify the judgment to find Wilson guilty of the included offense that was submitted to the jury. Wis. Stat. § 808.09. *McKissick v. State*, 78 Wis. 2d 176, 179–80, 254 N.W.2d 218 (1977); *Dickenson v. State*, 75 Wis. 2d 47, 51–52,

248 N.W.2d 447 (1977). Compare State v. Myers, 158 Wis. 2d 356, 362–63, 461 N.W.2d 777 (1990) (allowing for modification of a judgment to convict of a lesser-included offense that is submitted to the jury and proven; there, modification of the judgment was denied because neither party requested that the lesser-included offense be submitted to the jury). Accord In re Heidari, 174 Wash. 2d 288, ¶ 8, 274 P.3d 366 (2012); Austin v. United States, 382 F.2d 129, 142 (D.C. Cir. 1967); Hansen v. Burton, 2016 WL 5387827, \*10 (W.D. Mich. 2016).

Wilson effectively concedes that, if the jury believed F.T., there was sufficient proof of one violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b) at the 6th Street residence during the charged time frame, as well as sufficient proof of violations occurring at his mother's house between May 5 and May 20, 2014. "In fact, the undisputed evidence actually established that all but one of the alleged assaults took place after May 5, 2014." (Wilson's Br. 14 (emphasis added).) The "one" being the assault F.T. said occurred at her "momma house" on 6th Street. Id. See also Wilson's Br. 15 (referring "to the one assault that F.T. claimed took place at her mother's house"). The charges were equally serious, and the State presented sufficient evidence to prove that at least one violation of § 948.02(1)(b) occurred within the original charged time frame. If this Court reverses, it should, accordingly, remand to the trial court with directions to amend the judgment of conviction to reflect Wilson's conviction for the included offense of first-degree sexual intercourse with a child under age 12, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)(b), and for resentencing for that offense.

## II. Wilson failed to prove his trial attorney was ineffective with regard to the expert witness testimony.

The trial court properly denied Wilson's ineffective assistance challenges without an evidentiary hearing

because the record conclusively shows that they are utterly devoid of merit.

### A. The pleading requirements for alleging ineffective assistance of counsel

The sufficiency of a postconviction motion to require an evidentiary hearing is a question of law to be reviewed by this Court de novo. *State v. Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, ¶ 18, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W. 2d 334.

The motion must allege material facts that are significant or essential to the issues at hand. *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 22, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433. The motion must specifically set forth within its four corners facts answering the questions who, what, when, where, why and how the defendant would prove at an evidentiary hearing that he is entitled to relief: "the five 'w's' and one 'h" test. *Id.* ¶ 23. *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 59; *State v. Love*, 2005 WI 116, ¶ 27, 284 Wis. 2d 111, 700 N.W.2d 62.

If the motion is insufficient on its face, presents only conclusory allegations, or even if facially sufficient the record conclusively shows that the defendant is not entitled to relief, the trial court in the exercise of its discretion could as it did here deny the motion without an evidentiary hearing, subject to deferential appellate review. *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 50; *Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶¶ 9, 12; *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 310–11, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996).

To obtain an evidentiary hearing on his ineffective assistance of counsel claim, Wilson had to allege with factual specificity how counsel's performance was deficient and why it was prejudicial to his defense. *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶¶ 20, 40, 59, 67–70; *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 313–18. He could not rely on conclusory allegations of deficient performance and prejudice, hoping to supplement them at an evidentiary hearing. *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 313, 317–18; *Levesque v. State*, 63 Wis. 2d 412, 421–22, 217 N.W.2d 317

(1974). Even when the allegations of deficient performance are specific, the trial court in its discretion may deny the motion without an evidentiary hearing if the allegations of prejudice are only conclusory. *Id*.

To establish deficient performance, it would not be enough for Wilson to allege that his attorney's performance was "imperfect or less than ideal." Balliette, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 22. The issue is "whether the attorney's performance was reasonably effective considering all the circumstances." Id. (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984)). Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered reasonably competent assistance. *Id.* ¶¶ 25, 27. Wilson had to allege specific facts sufficient to overcome that strong presumption, id. ¶ 78, with the understanding that "[s]trategic choices are 'virtually unchallengeable." McAfee v. Thurmer, 589 F.3d 353, 356 (7th Cir. 2009) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). Wilson would have to show in his motion that trial counsel's specified deficiencies, if proven, sunk to the level of professional malpractice, State v. Maloney, 2005 WI 74, ¶ 23 n.11, 281 Wis. 2d 595, 698 N.W.2d 583, with the understanding that counsel need not even be very good to be deemed constitutionally adequate. State v. Wright, 2003 WI App 252, ¶ 28, 268 Wis. 2d 694, 673 N.W.2d 386; McAfee, 589 F.3d at 355–56.

Wilson had to also specifically allege prejudice in his motion because it would be his burden to affirmatively prove by clear and convincing evidence at an evidentiary hearing that he suffered actual prejudice as the result of counsel's proven deficient performance. He could not speculate. Balliette, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶¶ 24, 63, 70. Wilson would have to prove a reasonable probability that he would have received a more favorable outcome at trial but for counsel's deficient performance. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. "The likelihood of a different outcome 'must be substantial, not

just conceivable.' [Harrington v.] Richter, 131 S. Ct. at 792." Campbell v. Smith, 770 F.3d 540, 549 (7th Cir. 2014).

Trial counsel is not ineffective for failing to interpose meritless objections at trial. *E.g.*, *State v. Harvey*, 139 Wis. 2d 353, 380, 407 N.W.2d 235 (1987); *State v. Berggren*, 2009 WI App 82, ¶ 21, 320 Wis. 2d 209, 769 N.W.2d 110.

## B. Trial counsel was not ineffective in how she handled medical evidence that F.T. had genital herpes.

Wilson complains that his trial counsel, Diane Caspari, did not interpose a Confrontation Clause objection to the Children's Hospital medical records revealing that F.T. had genital herpes. (Wilson's Br. 20–31.) Wilson fails to disclose that trial counsel *did object* to the introduction of the medical records unless the SANE nurse testified, i.e., was produced by the State to be confronted and cross-examined about her entries in the records relied on by Dr. Guinn. (R. 69:46–47.) This was the equivalent of a confrontation objection. The fact that counsel's objection was unsuccessful does not prove deficient performance.

Pediatrician Dr. Guinn personally examined F.T. on May 23, 2014, and saw for herself that the child had lesions produced by genital herpes in her vaginal and anal regions. (R. 68:16–17.) The genital herpes she observed was consistent with having been caused by multiple types of sexual contact with the child's genitalia. (R. 68:20.) Dr. Guinn's personal observations were not hearsay, and Wilson was able to confront and cross-examine her about what she personally observed. Wis. Stat. § 906.02 (a witness may not testify "unless . . . the witness has personal knowledge of the matter").

The medical records on which Dr. Guinn relied, especially the part where F.T. told the nurse who examined her for herpes on May 20, 2014, that "[s]omeone did this to

me . . . Take it out" (R. 68:16), were admissible "statements for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment" under Wis. Stat. § 908.03(4). All of the medical records were admissible "records of regularly conducted activity" under Wis. Stat. § 908.03(6), and self-authenticating "patient health care records" under Wis. Stat. § 908.03(6m). These are also the type of records reasonably relied on by pediatric experts such as Dr. Guinn. Wis. Stat. § 907.03. "An expert opinion may be based on inadmissible hearsay." *State v. Williams*, 2002 WI 58, ¶ 28, 253 Wis. 2d 99, 644 N.W.2d 919. "Section 907.03 implicitly recognizes that an expert's opinion may be based in part on the results of scientific tests or studies that are not her own. It is rare indeed that an expert can give an opinion without relying to some extent upon information furnished by others." *Id.* ¶ 29.

So, trial counsel objected to the medical records unless the SANE nurse testified and could be confronted by Wilson, and counsel had no basis to object to the results of Dr. Guinn's personal examination of F.T. confirming that the child had genital herpes likely caused by sexual contact. The record conclusively shows that Wilson would not be able prove deficient performance at an evidentiary hearing.

There was also no basis for a Confrontation Clause objection to these otherwise admissible medical diagnosis and treatment records. They were not "testimonial." The primary purpose of the medical examinations was to diagnose and treat the obviously traumatized child, not to prosecute. State v. Mattox, 2017 WI 9, ¶¶ 3–4, 37, 373 Wis. 2d 122, 890 N.W.2d 256 (a laboratory's toxicology report relied on by the medical examiner who performed the autopsy in a drug overdose case was not "testimonial" because its "primary purpose" was to identify the concentration of tested substances in biological samples sent by the medical examiner). Like the toxicology reports upon which the criminal prosecution in Mattox was partially based, the

medical reports of F.T.'s diagnosis and treatment for genital herpes upon which this criminal prosecution was partially based were admissible because they were not generated primarily for the purpose of furthering a criminal prosecution. *Compare Williams*, 253 Wis. 2d 99, ¶ 41 ("State crime lab reports . . . are prepared primarily to aid in the prosecution of criminal suspects.").

The fact that F.T.'s medical examinations occurred after the intervention of child welfare authorities who suspected abuse in the house (R. 69:37–39), is largely insignificant. Wilson's subsequent criminal prosecution does not retrospectively change the neutral nature of the diagnostic and treatment medical records prepared by examining nurses and doctors, just as the prosecution for the drug overdose homicide in *Mattox* did not retrospectively change the neutral nature of the findings in the independent laboratory's toxicology report because in both situations the "primary purpose" of the examinations and the reports they generated was not testimonial. There was no statutory or constitutional basis for counsel to object to the medical records.

Wilson cannot prove prejudice because, again, Dr. Guinn personally observed the child's herpes. The impact of F.T.'s compelling and graphic testimony naming him as her repeated assailant would not have been diminished by excluding the portions of her medical records regarding examinations performed by medical personnel other than Dr. Guinn. Williams, 253 Wis. 2d 99, ¶ 50. See generally, State v. Harvey, 2002 WI 93, ¶ 49, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189 (A constitutional error is harmless if it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error.).

### C. Trial counsel was not ineffective in how she handled the expert testimony.

Wilson complains that trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to expert opinion testimony that child sexual assaults are often inter-familial. (Wilson's Br. 33–35.)

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